## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 82-786

THE FLORIDA BAR CASE NO. 91-71,419 (11K)

\* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \*

PHILLIP S. DAVIS

Respondent

VS.

THE FLORIDA BAR

Petitioner

\* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \*

An Appeal From the Referee

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MEL BLACK 2937 S.W. 27th Avenue Suite 202 Miami, Florida 33133 (305) 443-1600 Florida Bar No. 117489 Counsel for Respondent

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Phillip Davis, a member of The Florida Bar and Circuit Judge for the 11th Judicial Circuit, was indicted in the Southern District of Florida Case Number 91-708-CR-Gonzalez as part of "Operation Courtbroom". The Defendant stood trial along with Circuit Judge Alfonso Sepe, County Judge Harvey Shenberg and former Circuit Judge David Goodhart. The Respondent was acquitted of all charges. Shenberg and Goodhart were convicted. Sepe was acquitted of some counts and mistried on other counts.

Thereafter, Davis resigned his judgeship and returned to private practice. The Florida Bar filed a Complaint for discipline with five Counts: Count I, the receipt of a bribe in October 1990; Count II, the receipt of a bribe in April 1991; Count III, conducting an ex parte communication; Count IV, solicitation and receipt of loans from persons appearing before Respondent in his judicial capacity; and Count V, abuse of controlled substances. Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss alleging that one of the Grievance Committee members was a campaign supporter of the Respondent's opponent in a judicial election. The motion was denied. After a three-day hearing on the complaint, the Referee issued a report finding that the Bar Complaint was proven and recommending disbarrment without leave to reapply for 10 years. This appeal is then from the Referee's Report and Recommendation

-1-

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

## **RESPONDENT'S RELATIONSHIP WITH RAYMOND TAKIFF PRIOR** TO INVESTIGATION

Respondent met Raymond Takiff, a veteran lawyer, in 1980 when Respondent was a recent law school graduate interning at the Dade County State Attorney's Office. The two became acquainted with one another. R.Ex.6:9279. Upon the Respondent leaving the State Attorney's Office, the relationship grew. R.Ex.6:9280. Takiff used Respondent to cover cases for clients who were from large drug cartel organizations which Takiff represented. R.Ex.6:9293-94. Takiff handled the communications with the clients and arranged for fees. R.Ex.6:9280,9293; R.Ex.7:9541-43.

One of the cases Takiff and Respondent handled was a major drug smuggling conspiracy case in the United States District Court in Arizona. The defendants included Jack Fernandez, represented by Takiff and Respondent's client, Ivan Ariza. R.Ex.6:9281-82. Another co-defendant, Louis Villageliu, was identified on pleadings, newspaper articles and by other lawyers as a suspected hit-man of this drug cartel. Villageliu became a fugitive and is still at large. R.Ex.6:9287; R.Ex.F.

The Respondent's client, Ariza, was missing from the Arizona trial when it began. R.Ex.6:9283. Upon Ariza's arrest, Respondent flew with his client for appearance in Tucson, Arizona. Upon arrival in Arizona, Respondent learned that Takiff was in the case representing Jack Fernandez. R.Ex.6:9283-84.

-2-

Later, Takiff asked Respondent whether Ariza planned to cooperate with the prosecution and what information Ariza had given to Respondent. Respondent refused to violate the confidences of his client. Takiff made angry statements warning Respondent he was over his head in dealing with these strong and powerful people and that something could happen. R.Ex.6:9284-87. Thereafter, Respondent distanced himselt from Takift. R.Ex.6:9285. Ariza and Respondent became close and associated with each other is social and family events. R.Ex.6:9286.

Ariza was later kidnapped. R.Ex.6:9287. Respondent was in communication with Ariza during this time. R.Ex.6:9287. Ariza's corpse was eventually found in a car trunk mutilated and shot multiple times in the head. R. Ex.6:9288. Respondent and Tomi Poveda, Ariza's wife, were interrogated by the police who were looking for leads in the investigation. R.Ex.6:9288.

Takiff questioned Respondent about what was said to homicide detectives. R.Ex.6:9290. Respondent explained to Takiff that neither he nor Tomi Poveda had information as to what happened to Ariza. R.Ex.6:9290.

Subsequently Takiff explained to Respondent why Ariza was killed gangland style. R.Ex.6:9288-9289. Takiff had Respondent meet with two people to allay their fears that Ariza had told Respondent information that would be damaging to others. R.Ex.6:9290. Takiff called Respondent after the meeting and reassured Respondent that now everything was okay. R.Ex.6:9291 -92. Respondent did not go to the authorities because of fear. R.Ex.6:9292.

-3-

Thereafter, Respondent avoided Takiff until they met by happenstance in 1988 at a birthday party for an attorney. R.Ex.6:9292-94. Respondent was afraid when he spoke to Takiff at the party. R.Ex.6:9295. A few days later Takiff called Respondent to check up on him. R.Ex.6:9295.

### **RESPONDENT'S RELATIONSHIP WITH TAKIFF, THE GOVERNMENT AGENT**

In 1989 a wide ranging investigation of the State Criminal Courts was initiated. By this time Respondent had been elected to a circuit judgeship. According to Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE), Special Agent John Burke, lead investigator for Operation Courtbroom, the investigation began with Raymond Takiff as the confidential informant on August 4, 1989. CR.6:13.

In 1989 Takiff went to Respondent's chambers and told him never to discuss the Arizona case and the killing of Ivan Ariza. R.Ex.6:9343-44. Subsequently, in 1989, Takiff again went to Respondent's chambers and demanded that Respondent testify for Jack Fernandez in a federal criminal case in Miami. Fernandez was a lawyer who worked with Takiff and had been a co-defendant in the Arizona case with Nelson Bacallao, Ismael Felipe Arnaiz, Louis Villageliu, and the now murdered Ivan Ariza. R.Ex.6:9346. When Respondent expressed a reluctance to testify, Takiff became angry and demanded that Respondent testify. R.Ex.6:9347.

Afterward, Respondent was monitored frequently by check-up calls from Takiff. R.Ex.6:9347-48. Respondent felt threatened by the continuous coercion that was placed on him by Takiff. The Respondent understood the check-up calls to mean that Takiff and people with whom he was connected could inflict harm. R.Ex.6:9348.

-4-

#### ROY GELBER EXTORTION OF RESPONDENT

Respondent also testified he was the victim of an extortion scheme conducted by ex-Judge Roy Gelber. Shortly after Respondent was elected, Gelber claimed a debt by Respondent for \$20,000 for placement of election signs. Respondent catergorically denied this debt. R. Ex.6:9296-9307. Gelber persisted in asking Respondent to pay him \$20,000 and used a bail bondsman Tiseo to pressure Respondent to pay. R.Ex.6:9305-07.

Gelber was aware of a separate investigation involving the Respondent and his close friend, Joan Headly, R.Ex.6:9329. Special Agent John Burke testified that Headly was arrested and gave information about the Respondent's purchasing and consuming cocaine from a street seller. CR.6:51-55.

Gelber began extorting Respondent with the threat that if he paid Gelber \$20,000, he would have his family and his political organization keep the Respondent's drug habit and relationship scandal out of the paper. R.Ex.6:9329-30. Respondent began paying Gelber money. R.Ex.6:9331. At one point, Respondent, was paying extortion money to Gelber of approximately of \$1,500 a month. R.Ex.6:9331.

Respondent began to borrow money from family, friends, and lawyers to pay Gelber. R.Ex.9:9743-44; R.Ex.9:9785. Respondent could not pay fast enough or in the amounts that Gelber wanted. Relegated to doing anything Gelber asked of him, Respondent did Gelber's calendar and ran menial errands. R.Ex. 6:9336-38.

-5-

### RESPONDENT'S ADDICTION TO COCAINE, DRUGS, AND ALCOHOL

In 1989, beset by pressure from Gelber and Takiff, Respondent resorted to ingesting cocaine, prescription drugs and alcohol. R.Ex.6:9310. Respondent, took an array amphetamines, barbituates, anti-depressants and cocaine. To the Respondent cocaine "was an everything drug and it began to be a way of life." R.Ex.6:9310-12.

Respondent's addiction to prescription drugs, cocaine, and alcohol permeated his entire existence both on and off the bench. By the time the year 1990 began, Respondent was experiencing a nervous breakdown. R.EX.6:9310. When a home equity loan was denied, the Respondent screamed and yelled, causing a ruckus in the bank. R.Ex.6:9333-34. Due to a great deal of pressure Respondent could not handle the job of circuit court judge. R.Ex.6:9310. He took amphehtamines to get going and antidepressants and muscle relaxants to slow down. R.Ex.6:9310. Cocaine and alcohol were abused the most. R.Ex.6:9310.

Respondent consumed the drugs throughout the day and night. R.Ex.6:9311. The Respondent described this substance abused as a craving that became so intense that the ingesting of drugs went from being a choice to being a need, a second nature. R.Ex.6:9311.

## **RESPONDENT'S BEHAVIOR**

The mental state of the Respondent deteriorated over time. Respondent's supervisors, Chief Judge Gerald Wetherington and Criminal Division Administrative Judge Ralph Person, were aware of the evident signs of drug use and the resulting behavior. R.Ex.6:9326-29; R.Ex.9:9788. Those same supervisors had the

-6-

Respondent sent to New York, onstensibly to observe drug programs for court purposes. In actuality, the Chief Judge used this as an opportunity to have the Respondent observed by a substance abuse professional, and it was determined that Respondent was in "denial". R.Ex.13:221-22: R.Ex.14:8933-36; 8943-48. Respondent's erratic and bizarre behavior was observed and recognized by staff, family, and many of the lawyers that practiced in front of him. R.Ex.R:9155-71; R.Ex.15:9172-76; R.Ex.16:8858-72; CR.7:172-186; CR.6:126-146; R.Ex.18:9010-17; CR.7:186-192; R.Ex.19:9049-59; R.Ex.20:9069-77.

## **RESPONDENT'S DRUG USE KNOWN PRIOR TO "OPERATION COURTBROOM"**

FDLE Special Agent Burke testified that agents knew Respondent was purchasing and using cocaine prior to any activity in "Operation Courtbroom". CR.6:52. Takift informed lead agent Burke, along with others at FDLE, that Respondent was acting in a manner consistent with one being under the influence of cocaine. CR.6:51. Respondent was the only person under investigation who had a substance abuse problem which was discussed amongst agents and Takiff. CR.6:45. Takiff reported to Special Agent Burke that Respondent had admitted using cocaine. CR.6:48.

FDLE was aware that Respondent was purchasing cocaine for personal use as early as August or September 1989, a year before the "Courtbroom" investigation targeted respondent. CR.6:52. FDLE agents surveilled Respondent purchasing cocaine from a street dealer. CR.6:53. During electronic surveillance of Gelber, Takiff and Gelber discussed concerns that Respondent might be arrested on personal use of cocaine charges. CR.6:44,55. Gelber supplied demerol to the Respondent. R.Ex.6:9373.

-7-

Respondent admitted that he would purchase and consume one to two grams of cocaine three to four times per week coupled with pills and alcohol. R.Ex.8:9586. He testified that he was under pressure due to debts owed and that those debts went unpaid because of the need to buy cocaine. R.Ex.9:9742. Spending up to \$300 per week on the purchase of cocaine, Respondent borrowed money from others. R.Ex.9:9743. He testified that during the years of 1990 and 1991, when Takiff was recording his conversations, he was consistently and habitually abusing cocaine, alcohol, and prescription drugs. R. Ex.9:9819.

Respondent testified that he knows now that drugs and alcohol, combined with Takiff and Gelber, caused him to do and say things that did not make sense. R.Ex.9:9819. Respondent admits that he was frequently untruthful on the tape recordings. R.Ex.9: 9819-20.

## RESPONDENT'S INVOLVEMENT IN "OPERATION COURTBROOM"

The August 16, 1990 meeting between Takiff and Respondent

On June 19, 1990 Respondent coincidentally came into contact with Takiff on the escalator at the Metro-Justice Building. R. Ex.6:9349. Takiff gestured Respondent to come to Judge Roy Gelber's office. R.Ex.6:9350. In Gelber's office, Takiff insisted on Respondent going on a trip to Atlantic City with him and Gelber. R.Ex.6:9356. Special Agent Burke confirmed that there was an effort to get Respondent to go to Atlantic City. CR.6:40. Over the next six weeks Gelber kept insisting that he and Takiff wanted to take Respondent to Atlantic City. R.Ex.6: 9351.

-8-

Respondent became fearful about being with Takiff and Gelber in Atlantic City. R.Ex.6:9353. Respondent explained to Gelber that he did not want to go to Atlantic City because of his being extorted by Gelber and his knowledge of Takiff's and others connection with Ivan Ariza's death. R.Ex.6:9354.

Gelber later said he had repeated Respondent's concerns to Takiff and Takiff wanted to see Respondent immediately. R.Ex.6:9354. Gelber told Respondent that Takiff was upset and that both Takiff and Gelber were wondering whether Respondent would become an informant. R.Ex.6:9354-55. Gelber told Respondent to meet with, appease, and placate Takift. Gelber told Respondent to borrow money from Takiff in order to pay for the signs and silence about the Headly scandal. R.Ex.6:9354-55.

The Respondent, compelled by fear, thereafter called and met with Takiff on August 16, 1994. R.Ex.6:9355. Respondent felt he had no other choice but to meet with Takiff. R.Ex.6:9356. Respondent felt that in Takiff's world, snitches and informants end up dead. R.Ex.6:9382. Respondent met with Takiff to prevent Takiff from calling others and jeopardizing Respondent and his family. R.Ex.6:9356-57.

### The September 7, 1990 Dinner With Takiff And Respondent

After the August 16, 1990 meeting, no future meeting had been planned. R.Ex.6:9358. Takiff made numerous phone calls to Respondent between August 16, 1990 and August 22, 1990, but Respondent did not return any of those calls. R.Ex.6:9357. On August 22, 1990 Takiff came unexpectedly to Respondent's chambers and asked Respondent why his calls were not returned. R.Ex.6:9358.

-9-

Respondent replied that he had been busy and was unable to return calls. R.Ex.6:9358. On August 23, 1990 Gelber summoned Respondent to Gelber's chambers for a call from Takiff. R.Ex.6,9358. At Gelber's chambers Takiff was on the phone and again asked Respondent why he hadn't you returned the phone calls. R.Ex.6:9358. In an effort to convey that Respondent wanted to be left alone, he expressed that the FBI, FDLE, CIA, DEA, Supreme Court and Third District Court of Appeals had golden handcufts on him. R.Ex.6:9358-59.

Gelber continued to place pressure on Respondent that Gelber and Takiff were concerned that Respondent was an informant. R.Ex.6:9359.

Gelber insisted that Respondent sit, meet, and talk with Takiff and Gelber. R.Ex.6:9359. Gelber instructed Respondent on how communication should be conducted between Respondent, Gelber, and Takiff. R.Ex.6:9360.

On September 4, 1990, Takiff called Respondent wanting to have dinner on the 5th. Respondent cancelled and Takiff reset it for the 7th.

### Dinner at Christy's Restaurant September 7, 1990

Respondent out of fear went to dinner at Christy's Restaurant with Takiff. R.Ex.6:9361-62. The Respondent's goal was to appease and allay the fears that Takiff had about him. R.Ex.6: 9362.

-10-

On September 7, 1990, Respondent had consumed cocaine and alcohol throughout the day. R.Ex.6:9364. Respondent was intoxicated on cocaine and alcohol during the meeting with Takiff. On the tape of the Christy dinner meeting there is hysterical laughter, cussing and swearing, and exaggeration. The Respondent was passive in the conversation and many of his responses to Takiff's statements are "right", "right", "right", "right", right". R.Ex.6:9364; C.Ex.1:55-76.

Takiff testified that he is a seductive speaker and that during the conversations, Takiff could direct the conversations how he wanted to direct them. R.Ex.9:9817-18. Takiff led the conversation. R.Ex.8:9651; C.Ex.1.

Subsequently Takiff told Respondent "you don't know what the fuck I am talking about". C.Ex.1:56. It is Takiff that talks about leaving the bench and going into private practice. C.Ex.1:59-62. Abruptly, Takiff switched the conversation and asked for a "lock" in Respondent's division. C.Ex.1:63. There was a pregnant pause, and Respondent's formerly loud tenor changed to a soft low voice and there is a complete absence of laughter coupled with an muted "yes". C.Ex.1:63. Respondent testified that he knew he could not afford to say no. R.Ex.6:9368.

Respondent placated Takiff and reassured him that he "has always been with him", "never complained", "been a soldier", "never counted his (Takiff's) money", "did what he (Takiff) said", "been a solider", "you (Takiff) never doubted me (Davis)". C.Ex.1:65-66. Takiff immediately tells Respondent "forget about never doubting you". C.Ex.1:66. Respondent was referring to the

-11-

time when he use to work for Takiff, saw large cash amounts in his office, and accepted whatever Takiff wished to pay him with no complaint. R.Ex.6:9368-69.

Takiff went on to say "I am risking myself". C.Ex.1:67-68. Respondent answered "You could have said anything to me you wanted to say"; "I was always your friend whether I was in or out, up or down". C.Ex.1:67-68.

Takiff became physical during the dinner and begain banging the table and blaming Respondent for not helping him. R.Ex.6:9371; C.Ex.1:182. Takiff complained that he had been in the hospital with a heart condition and Respondent had not come to check on him. R.Ex.6:9371; C.Ex.1:182. Takiff made it clear he saved Respondent's life yet Respondent was not there for him. R.Ex.6:9371; C.Ex.1:182. Respondent began to cry and plead with Takiff not to punish him. R.Ex.6:9371; C.Ex.1:182.

Respondent was intoxicated prior to the meeting and became more inebriated during the conversation due to the alcohol that he and Takiff were consuming. R.Ex.6:9372; C.Ex.1:84,98,122,143,151. Takiff told Respondent he had heard from forty to forty-five people that Respondent was using cocaine. R.Ex.6:9373.

## The September 13, 1990 Meeting

Takiff called Respondent on the morning of September 12, 1990 asking to see him to run some names by to determine their fugitive status. R.Ex.6:9373. Takiff told Respondent that "Gelber would be calling next". R.Ex.6:9374. Gelber called and told Respondent to "do what Takiff tells you to do". R.Ex.6:9374. Gelber told Respondent to "get the money Takiff is going to give you and make sure you give it to me". R.Ex.6:9374.

-12-

On September 13, 1990 Takiff arrived at Respondent's chambers and gave Respondent four names which he wanted Respondent to check for arrest warrants. R.Ex.6:9374-75. Takiff told Respondent "there is ten in it for you". R.Ex.6:9375. Respondent told Takiff "it is public information". R.Ex.6:9375.

## Respondent Attempts To Retreat But Is Pressured

On the morning of September 14, 1990 Takiff called Respondent for the information. Respondent told Takiff he couldn't get it. R.Ex.6:9376. Takiff came to the courthouse to see Respondent who told Takiff that he did not want to do this request. R.Ex.6:9377. Respondent suggested that Takiff hire Al Fuentes who is a private investigator. R.Ex.6:9377. Respondent stated to Takiff he did not want the \$10,000. R.Ex.6:9377.

Respondent was very worried and frightened. R.Ex.6:9377-78. Takiff got upset and told Respondent "you've known me Phil, you know I don't do things like that". R.Ex.6:9378-79. Respondent gave in to pressure and agreed to do it. R.Ex.6:9379. Respondent testified he believed that he should take money, as instructed by Gelber, lest Gelber and Takiff thought he was an informant and would cause jeopardy to Respondent and his family. R.Ex.6:9379.

Gelber testified in the criminal trial of "Operation Courtbroom" that Takiff wanted the information from the frightened Respondent for the purpose of getting the Respondent in the middle of assisting Takiff in other things. R.Ex.ll:7766-67. Through a system of code developed by Gelber and Takiff, Respondent was told what to do and how to do it. R.Ex.6:9380. He was given instructions from Gelber in a scheme to get money from Takiff using Respondent as an unwilling middleman. R.Ex.6:9380.

-13-

On September 17, 1990 Respondent informed Takiff that he did not want to be involved. R.Ex.6:9381. Agent Burke admitted that in this conversation Respondent is tentative, slow, and reluctant to participate. CR.6:59.

During September 17, 1990 conversation, Respondent told Takiff that he wanted to remain a judge and didn't want to jeopardize his position. R.Ex.6:9382. Respondent informed Takiff that people were counting on him. R.Ex.6:9382. Respondent apologized to Takiff for having mentioned Ariza and Arizona to Gelber. R.Ex.6:9382. Respondent tried to convince Takiff that he would not mention or talk about that issue again. R.Ex.6:9382. Takiff told Respondent he was concerned about him "flipping", turning, or becoming a "snitch" or an informant. R.Ex.6:9382. Respondent was concerned about Takiff because "in the world that Takiff works in snitches and informants end up dead". R.Ex.6:9382.

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