IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

· v.

PHILLIP SAMUEL DAVIS,

Respondent.

On Petition for Review

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF COMPLAINANT

RANDI KLAYMAN LAZARUS Bar Counsel TFB No. 360929 The Florida Bar Suite M-100, Rivergate Plaza 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director TFB No. 123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel TFB No. 217395 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

Supreme Court Case No. 82,786

The Florida Bar File

No. 91-71,419(11K)

Q

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Phillip Samuel Davis was elected to serve the people of Dade County, as a Circuit Court Judge. He was indicted and prosecuted by the Federal Government for taking bribes, all of which were captured on both audio and video tape. He admitted to having a drug habit at the trial as well as being in fear of the Government's cooperating witness, and was acquitted.

The Florida Bar proceeded against the Respondent before a Referee where it essentially proved up all of the criminal allegations, as well as presenting a strong case in aggravation. The case in aggravation set forth acts of dishonesty, as well as incompetence beginning in 1984 and ending in November of 1993. The Referee, based on all of the evidence found the Respondent guilty of all charges and recommended that the Respondent be disbarred for a period of ten (10) years. Respondent contends that the Referee's findings of fact and imposition of discipline should be overturned. The Bar believes that the case against the Respondent was overwhelming and the disciplinary recommendation is correct based on Respondent's conduct throughout his career.

### POINTS ON APPEAL

Ι

### WHETHER THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE? (RESTATED)

II

### WHETHER THE REFEREE'S IMPOSITION OF DISBARMENT WITHOUT LEAVE TO REAPPLY FOR TEN YEARS WAS CORRECT? (RESTATED)

WHETHER THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE (RESTATED)

It is well established that a Referee's findings of fact in an attorney disciplinary case are presumed correct and will be upheld on appeal unless clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida Bar v. Winderman</u>, 614 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1993). The Respondent has been unable to establish that such has occurred in the case at hand.

Respondent takes issue with the style of the Referee's report and complains that it lacks a factual analysis. First, the Referee in his oral pronouncement, which encompassed six pages of the transcript confirmed that he quite clearly understood the allegations and believed they had been proven. Second, Rule 3-7.6(k)(1) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar sets forth the items which must constitute the contents of the Referee's Report. The Referee's Report must include findings of fact as to each item of misconduct and recommendations as to whether the Respondent should be found guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary measures, as well as other undisputed items. The Referee's Report sub judice does set forth those precise items and thus is not defective.

The Florida Bar charged Respondent with accepting a personal loan and exchanging it for a court appointment. (App. A; See Count IV of the Complaint of The Florida Bar). In support of that allegation Kent Wheeler testified. Respondent in his brief

20

Ι

essentially argues that he did not agree with Mr. Wheeler's version of the events. The Referee, however, listened to and observed Mr. Wheeler, as well as reviewing the Respondent's testimony at the courtbroom trial, which set forth the Respondent's version. The Referee's finding in this matter in essence has resolved any dispute. He stated:

> "From his own testimony, he was hustling loans from lawyers and experts with cases before him and at the time of his testimony, he saw nothing wrong with that -- which is amazing -and he rewarded the lenders with appointments" (TR. 521-522).

A Referee is in a unique position to assess the credibility of the witnesses and his judgment regarding credibility should not be overturned absent clear and convincing evidence that the judgment is incorrect. <u>The Florida Bar v. Thomas</u>, 582 So.2d 1179 (Fla. 1991). Simply because the Respondent subjectively believes his version of the events, does not bind the Referee or this Honorable Court.

In Count IV, paragraph 25 and 26 of the Complaint, The Florida Bar charged that the Respondent solicited a loan from Dr. Leonard Haber. (App. A) Dr. Haber declined, believing the behavior was not acceptable, and was no longer appointed by the Respondent. He had previously received seventeen (17) appointments and thereafter none. Respondent argues that because <u>Dr. Haber</u> did not conclude that no longer being court appointed had any connection to Dr. Haber's refusal, the Referee must come to the same conclusion. The Referee, the finder of fact, in his province, did not agree nor is he bound to agree. Further, it is logical to conclude that if

Responded "rewarded" those who loaned him money with court appointments, he would "punish" those who would not! Moreover, the Referee also heard the "before and after" statistics, which speak for themselves.

In Count V, paragraphs 36-40, of The Florida Bar's Complaint, it was alleged and the Referee found that the Respondent admitted under oath to using and being under the influence of cocaine, alcohol and prescription drugs while presiding as a Judge and that his performance as a Judge was adversely affected. (App. A) Respondent presented no evidence to refute that he made those statements under oath, nor has he presented any evidence to refute that those statements were true. As to State v. Balmaseda, Respondent stated under oath at his federal trial that his drug use impaired his judgment and impacted on the lives of those involved. Respondent now is saying he really did not use bad judgment and the resultant dead victim could have happened to any sober Judge. Respondent's position is guite disingenuous. Did he admit poor judgment and profess guilt so as to evoke sympathy from the jury in the federal trial and now is guiltless because he was acquitted and is being disciplined by his peers? One would wonder. Surely, if Respondent now is receding from sworn statements and has admitted to perjury before the federal courts his position becomes quite untenable. The Referee accepted Respondent's sworn testimony and agreed with Respondent's admission of responsibility by finding him quilty of the charge.

As to Rule 5.11(e) of the Florida Standards for Imposing

lawyer sanctions, it appears that the Referee's intended finding was that the Respondent attempted or conspired or solicited another to commit any of the offenses listed in sections (a)-(d); rather than the Respondent engaged in the sole distribution or importation of controlled substances. A scrivener's error appears to have occurred.

The Respondent has taken issue with all of the Referee's findings in aggravation. In fact, the testimony of William Berk is undisputed. The Respondent never testified nor did he present any evidence to refute the allegation of witness tampering. Moreover, Respondent claims to have been disadvantaged because he could not confront the witness Respondent tampered with. The Rules of Civil Procedure are applicable to disciplinary proceedings. Rule 3-7.6(e)(1) and (2) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar; The Florida Bar v. Daniel, 626 So.2d 178 (Fla. 1993). The Respondent neither formally nor informally requested to be advised of The Florida Bar's witnesses, nor did the Referee require same. The Florida Bar cannot take responsibility for Certainly, Respondent's failure to do pretrial discovery. Additionally, Respondent, a former circuit court judge, did devote time to presenting a Motion to Dismiss, therefore, evidencing his knowledge and ability to engage in pre-trial preparation.

The Referee found, based on Rosemarie Antonelli-Pollack's testimony, that the Respondent had lied to a Judge and a State Attorney. The Referee observed the witness and believed her. The Respondent presented no contradicting testimony.

Respondent says the Referee's findings that he lied to various individuals is grossly erroneous. Respondent's argument must fail, unless like in the Balmaseda situation, he is now admitting to perjury. Respondent made those statements under oath. He did not testify at the disciplinary proceeding and is bound by his statements.

Respondent also says that the Referee erroneously found that his allegation in a Motion to Dismiss as well as in open court that a member of the Grievance Committee had been recruiting supporters for his opponent in the judicial race was deceptive. Respondent merely says that the totality of the circumstances would lead to a different conclusion. The Referee was not presented with any evidence from the Respondent on this issue, other than his bald face allegation. The Referee's finding, based on the testimony of the Grievance Committee member was therefore supported by competent evidence.

Respondent contends that the Referee, by finding that he had refused to acknowledge the wrongful nature of his conduct was depriving him of his right to invoke certain privileges. Respondent at no time asserted any privilege since there was no effort to compel Respondent's testimony. Respondent's decision not to present live testimony was of his own doing. The Respondent did present his testimony at the courtbroom trial. That testimony did not address the allegations filed by The Florida Bar since they occurred subsequently.

The Respondent says that the Referee failed to consider the

existence of certain mitigating factors. The Referee certainly "considered" the evidence presented with which Respondent attempted to establish those circumstances, but "failed to find them". There is a world of difference. There is no requirement that the Referee outline each proposed mitigating circumstance and/or defense and explain why he did not find that they exist. In fact, the Referee did state that the Respondent failed to prove any defense whatsoever. (TR. 519; App. B) Respondent states that there was inescapable testimony of his erratic behavior by those who worked with him. Not one of those individuals, despite their alleged observations, took any action to either report or assist the Respondent. (TR. 138-139; 183-184) In fact, Daniel Velayos, Senior Assistant Public Defender, testified that Respondent's behavior did not rise to a level which would have caused him to report the Respondent to the Judicial Qualification Commission. (TR. 183-184) Rodney Thaxton, Assistant Public Defender, said the same thing (TR. 139) Oliver Morales, Assistant Public Defender, thought the Respondent was a jerk, whose power had gone to his head. With the foregoing equivocation, and failure to take action it is not hard to understand the Referee's conclusion.

Additionally, the Respondent did not maintain that he had a drug problem beginning in 1984 when he tampered with a witness or lied to a Judge and State Attorney in 1988. Thus, any evidence regarding a drug problem in 1990 is irrelevant to his previous acts of misconduct, as presented by The Florida Bar in its case in aggravation. <u>The Florida Bar v. Hogsten</u>, 127 So.2d 668 (Fla.

1961).

Respondent maintains that his witnesses testified that he had a good reputation in the community and that factor is mitigating. Georgia Ayers, who is connected with the legal community, could only testify as to her relationship with the Respondent and not as to his reputation in the community. (TR. 375) Minister Jackson, who is not connected with the legal community said that Respondent's reputation in the community is good. (TR. 392) The Bar, however, presented Patricia Seitz, the former President of The Florida Bar as its witness in regard to the Respondent's reputation in the legal community, as well as other items. Certainly, the President of The Florida Bar, more than most, can feel the pulse of the legal community through all of her contacts. Ms. Seitz testified that she had in fact been telephoned, approached, and written to by members of The Florida Bar who believed the Respondent was a disgrace to the profession. She said that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty in the legal community was not good. (TR. 213) It is apparent that the Referee must have found Ms. Seitz's testimony to be more persuasive than Minister Jacksons', in light of his limited, if not non existent, contact with the legal community.

Respondent makes much of his voluntary membership to Florida Lawyer's Assistance, Inc. since March of 1993. The Bar pointed out, however, that Respondent purportedly gave up drugs in June of 1991 and only sought to see Dr. Trop an addictionologist in September of 1992. (TR. 423-426, 251) The courtbroom trial began

in late 1992. Respondent did not commence his involvement with Florida Lawyer's Assistance, Inc. until March of 1993, just prior to the conclusion of the courtbroom trial. Respondent's own monitor with Florida Lawyer's Assistance, Inc. testified that Respondent only began to take the program seriously in November of 1993, the same month that The Florida Bar filed its complaint. (TR. 441) The Referee apparently understood The Florida Bar's attempt to point out that Respondent's resort to rehabilitation was tied in with both the criminal and bar prosecution and being used as a Further, in The Florida Bar v. Routh, 414 So.2d 1023 tool. (Fla. 1982) this court held that evidence of rehabilitation based on a Respondent's conduct subsequent to the misconduct was not relevant and, thus, refusal to consider such evidence was proper. In this case the Referee went further on and considered the evidence, but did not "find" it.

The Respondent has failed to prove that the Referee's findings of fact are unsupported by competent and substantial evidence and therefore must be upheld.

WHETHER THE REFEREE'S IMPOSITION OF DISBARMENT WITHOUT LEAVE TO REAPPLY FOR TEN YEARS WAS CORRECT (RESTATED)

Although a Referee's recommendation of discipline is subject to a broader scope of review by the Court, the recommendation comes to the Court clothed with a presumption of correctness. <u>The</u> Florida Bar v. Roberts, 626 So.2d 650 (Fla. 1993).

It is almost hard to imagine any acts more worthy of disbarment than those committed by Phillip Davis. Phillip Davis, while under surveillance, accepted \$30,000 in bribes while a In one instance, he was divulging confidential sitting judge. information which was available to him because he was a Judge. He accepted the money while he sat in his judicial robes on the bench by directing the deliverer to place the payoff in his chambers. (TR. 29) In the second instance Phillip Davis accepted \$20,000 to fix a bond on a case. He knew that phony evidence was being presented. He laughed at the State and revelled at his own cleverness. (See Petitioner's Exhibit 7) He hustled lawyers for loans and gave them payoffs by appointing them to cases paid for He stated he did drugs and that it impaired his the taxpayers. judgment. The Referee found no mitigation. Phillip Davis did not simply become dishonest in 1990. He was dishonest as a defense attorney in 1984 when he tampered with a State witness. He was dishonest on a loan application. He even lied about the death of his child. He continued to be dishonest when he lied to a State Attorney and a Judge in 1988. He lied to the Chief Judge, the

II

press, and his own attorney. He remained dishonest when The Bar prosecuted him and he lied about a Grievance Committee member. Phillip Davis claims he had a drug habit in 1990, yet he cannot use that crutch to justify his proven acts of dishonesty beginning in 1984.

Respondent seems to be very confident in his conclusion that he was acquitted in the criminal trial because he was entrapped and coerced. Respondent could not know why he was acquitted. No one can know. Any number of factors could have caused that result. Respondent should feel that he received a chance of a lifetime.

<u>The Florida Bar v. Gross</u>, 610 So.2d 442 (Fla. 1992) concerned a Judge who accepted a bribe in return for reducing a criminal defendant's bail. Gross was acquitted and then disbarred for five (5) years. The instant case is more egregious. There are two instances of bribery, drug use on the bench and numerous acts of dishonesty beginning in 1984 and concluding in the disciplinary proceeding. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Rendina</u>, 583 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1991) that attorney attempted to bribe a State Attorney and was disbarred for five (5) years. Respondent's multiple long lasting acts of misconduct are certainly worthy of an enhanced disbarment.

This court has accepted ten years disbarment from two other corrupt officials. They were former Miami Beach Mayor, A. Alexander Dauod (September 30, 1993) and former Circuit Judge Harvey Shenberg (December 23, 1993).

It is important for this court to remember that the Referee, who is in the best position of evaluation, did not find any

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